
 
County Offices 

Newland 
Lincoln 

LN1 1YL 
 

7 March 2014 
 

Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee 
 

A meeting of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-
Committee will be held on Monday, 17 March 2014 at 12.30 pm or at the rising of 
the Planning and Regulation Committee, whichever is later, in Council Chamber, 
County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the business set 
out on the attached Agenda.  
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Tony McArdle 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Membership of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-
Committee  
(7 Members of the Council) 
 
Councillors D C Hoyes MBE (Chairman), D Brailsford, D McNally, D C Morgan, 
Mrs H N J Powell, W S Webb and 1 Vacancy 
 
 

Public Document Pack





DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY SUB-
COMMITTEE AGENDA 

MONDAY, 17 MARCH 2014 
 
 
Item Title 

 
Pages  

1  Apologies for Absence/Replacement Members  
 

 

2  Declarations of Member's Interests  
(Councillors are reminded that there is no need to declare an 
interest if it has already been recorded on the register of 
disclosable pecuniary interests (DPIs) or notified to the Monitoring 
Officer in accordance with the regulations. However, Councillors 
declaring interests must state what the DPI is and accordingly not 
speak or vote on the item) 
 

 

3  Minutes of the last meeting held on 8 April 2013  
 

1 - 2 

4  Appeal against the prioritisation of DMMO 364 - Skegness- 
Claimed Public Footpath from Footpath No.969 to Footpath 
No. 301 along the Sea Defences  
 

3 - 12 

 

 
 
 

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details  
 
Name: Steve Blagg 

 
Direct Dial 01522 553788 

 
E Mail Address steve.blagg@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting 
 

• Business of the meeting 

• Any special arrangements 

• Copies of reports 
 
Contact details set out above. 
 
All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Definitive Map and Public  
Rights of Way 

Sub-Committee 
8 April 2013 

 

 
 

 
PRESENT: COUNCILLOR D C HOYES (CHAIRMAN) 
 
Councillors P Bedford, D Brailsford, M Brookes, R Hills, M Tinker and S F Williams 
 
Officers:- Christopher Miller (Countryside Access Manager, Communities) and Steve 
Blagg (Democratic Services Officer, Performance and Governance). 
 
9. DECLARATIONS OF COUNCILLORS’ INTERESTS 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
10. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2012 be agreed as a 
 correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
11. APPEAL AS TO THE PRIORITISATION OF DEFINITIVE MAP 
 MODIFICATION ORDER APPLICATIONS 
 
The Countryside Access Manager presented an appeal against prioritisation of 
Definitive Map Modification Order applications.  
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that Councillor C L Strange, local Member, had 
requested that the Committee should be informed that highways should keep control 
of the land and that the legal section should be asked to examine the legal issues 
associated with this case. 
 
Following consideration of the appeal it was:- 
 
RESOLVED 
 

Application 
 

Current Priority Decision Reason for Decision 

Re-prioritisation of 
DMMO 360 – 
Heapham – Public 
Footpath No.57 

147 (a) That DMMO 
360 be re-
prioritised to No. 22 
 
(b) That highways 
be asked to 
examine the legal 
issues in 
connection with this 

Where there is 
sustained aggression, 
hostility and ill feeling 
within a community, 
and that in processing 
the case early there is 
a strong likelihood that 
that this will reduce 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 
 
 

Definitive Map and Public  
Rights of Way 

Sub-Committee 
8 April 2013 

 

case 

 
 
The meeting closed at 1.10pm. 

Page 2



 

 

 

 

 

Regulatory and other Committee 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills - Executive Director for 
Communities 

 

Report to: 
Definitive Map & Statement of Public Rights of 
Way Sub-Committee 

Date: 17 March 2014 

Subject: 

Appeal against the prioritisation of DMMO 364 - 
Skegness- Claimed Public Footpath from 
Footpath No.969 to Footpath No. 301 along the 
Sea Defences  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

An appeal by Mr P Marshall against the current standing of DMMO case 
No.364 within the County Council's priority system. 
 

 

Recommendation(s): 

That consideration is given to Mr P Marshall's proposal to upgrade the priority 
of the modification order case. 
 

 
1. Background 
 

As Surveying Authority the County Council has a statutory duty to keep under 
continuous review the Definitive Rights of Way Map and Statement for Lincolnshire 
and to make orders to take account of events requiring the map to be modified. 
This is carried out by the processing of Definitive Map Modification Orders 
(DMMOs) which are either applied for by the public or initiated by the Authority on 
the discovery of evidence. 
 
Highways & Traffic Guidance Note HAT33/3/11 sets out that such cases will be 
dealt with in order of receipt/initiation unless one or more of the eight “exception 
criteria” apply. 
 
The criteria are as follows: 
 

1. Where there is sustained aggression, hostility and ill feeling within a 
community that is causing severe disruption to the life of that 
community, and that in processing the case early there is a strong 
likelihood that this will reduce. 

 
2. Where there is a significant threat to the route, likely to cause a 

permanent obstruction (e.g. a building, but not, for example, a locked 
gate or residential fencing). 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



 

 

 

 

 

 
3. Where there is, or has been, a finding of maladministration by the 

Local Government Ombudsman on a particular case and that in 
processing the case the County Council will discharge its duty to the 
Ombudsman’s decision. 

 
4. Where legal proceedings against the County Council are instigated or 

are likely to be instigated and it is possible that the Authority has a 
liability. 

 
5. Where there is a risk to children on County Council owned property 

and land or where the claimed route would provide for a safer 
alternative route to a school, play area or other amenity for children. 

 
6. Where there is a significant financial saving to the County Council (and 

therefore taxpayers) through the processing of an Order. 
 
7. Where a new application is received that relies on evidence of a case 

already received or, if the new application forms part of or is adjoining 
to an existing claim, the new claim will be dealt with at the same time 
as the older application. 

 
8. Where the route will significantly assist in achieving a Countryside and 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan Objective or Statement of Action. 
 
Mr P Marshall has appealed against the current priority of DMMO 364, a claimed 
public footpath along the sea defences between Footpath 969 and Footpath 30. 
 
Appendix A is a brief case synopsis including the reasons for Mr Marshall's 
appeal 
 

2. Conclusion 
 
That Mr Marshall has made a valid appeal against the current prioritisation of the 
case which requires consideration by this sub-committee. 
 

3. Consultation 
 

a) Scrutiny Comments 

  

b) Executive Councillor Comments 

  

c) Local Member Comments 

  

d) Policy Proofing Actions Required 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

 

 n/a 

 
 
 

4. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Case Synopsis for Skegness - Claimed Public Footpath between 
Footpath No. 969 to Footpath No. 301 along the Sea Defences 

Appendix B Letter of Appeal from Mr. P Marshall 

 
 

5. Background papers 
 

The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were 
relied upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Highways & Traffic Guidance Note 33/3/11 – Prioritisation of Definitive Map 
Modification Orders -  

 
This report was written by Chris Miller, who can be contacted on 01522 782070 or 
chris.miller@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 5



Appendix A - Case Synopsis for: Skegness – Claimed Public Footpath between 
Footpath No. 969 and Footpath No. 301 along Sea Defences. 

 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 
Definitive Map Modification Order 
Skegness - Claimed Public Footpath between Footpath No. 969 and Footpath 
No. 301 along Sea Defences. 

 
1. Application 
 

An application under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, section 53(5) from 
Ms. Susan Elliff was made on 22nd May 2013 to add a public footpath in the 
town of Skegness between the footpaths numbered 969 and 301 and along 
the coastal sea defences and abutting the North Shore Golf Club. 
 

2. Plan of Route 
 

See attached location plan  
 
3. Evidence in support of the application 
 

Accompanying the application were 9 user evidence forms with a 
subsequent submission of one further user evidence form. 

 
4. Background 
 

The question of whether or not there is legitimate linear public access 
between the two footpaths named above was first raised early in 1996 
following the erection of gates across a pathway which seemed to form a 
part of the sea defences constructed in 1994. At that time it was considered 
that the evidence forms submitted (by 17 individuals and separate to the 
most recent forms) did not provide sufficient evidence to prove that the 
same line had been walked between the two named footpaths to 
demonstrate that a right of way could have been presumed to have been 
dedicated. Prior to the construction of the sea defences people had walked 
between the two footpaths amongst the sandhills. As no official application 
had been received there was no right of appeal against the Authority's 
decision not to progress the matter. 
 
It was also the Council's understanding at the time that the sea defences 
were built in such a way that any previously walked line was either 
subsumed into the defences or was located between the high and low water 
mark of the sea and as a consequence forms part of Crown Estate which is 
not subject to the provisions of Highways Act 1980 s.31 (the "20 year, long-
user rule"). No consideration of the application of Common Law seems to 
have been made at that time. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 6



Appendix A - Case Synopsis for: Skegness – Claimed Public Footpath between 
Footpath No. 969 and Footpath No. 301 along Sea Defences. 

5. Other Considerations 
 
Whilst no thorough investigation has taken place regarding this matter there 
are a number of considerations that will have to be taken into account in 
doing so. 
 

• The effect that the Lindsey County Council (Sandhills) Act 1932 will 
have on the claim and the land it affects. 
 
The Sandhills Act is an Act of Parliament that was designed to limit 
uncontrolled development and the day to day regulation of outdoor 
recreation on the affected land. Although parts of the Act expired in 
1986 certain savings were made by Order of the Secretary of State 
for the Environment including for the regulation of the erection of 
fencing and control of open spaces. Further research into the 
retained clauses will be required to see if there is an effect on the 
claimed route or the land it crosses. 
 

• Provisions of Highways Act 1980 s.31(5) 
 

Following the construction of the sea defences the North Shore Golf 
Course lodged a notice with the County Council to the effect that no 
public rights of way were being dedicated over land in its ownership. 
 

• Previous rights of way conflict over the golf course. 
 

When the golf course was constructed at the turn of the 20th Century 
a well-documented "trespass event" took place to secure rights 
across it based on usage for over 200 years. This lead to court 
considerations and eventually a path across the course was 
approved. It is now the contention that there may have possibly been 
two routes considered including a north south route across the 
course. Further investigation into this is still required to corroborate 
this belief. 

 
6. Current Priority 
 

Following receipt of the application and following a site visit it was felt by 
officers that none of the exception criteria applied. 
 
The site visit revealed that there was some usage ongoing at present where 
people had got around the existing gates or merely climbed over one of the 
barriers at steps created in the sea defences. 
 
The claimed route has a block-work surface but is covered by varying 
amounts of sand being wind-blown from the beach. For the majority of users 
this makes the route no less difficult to walk than the beach itself which 
provides an alternative means of traversing between the two footpaths at the 
north and south ends of the golf course land. 
 

Page 7



Appendix A - Case Synopsis for: Skegness – Claimed Public Footpath between 
Footpath No. 969 and Footpath No. 301 along Sea Defences. 

The case is currently ordered at number 145 of 149 outstanding cases. 
 
 
 

7. Appeal 
 

An appeal against the County Council’s prioritisation of the case was 
received from Mr P Marshall on 21st February 2014. 
 
The appeal specifies that it is made on the grounds contained in criteria 1) 
 
1) Where there is sustained aggression, hostility and ill feeling within a 

community that is causing severe disruption to the life of that 
community, and that in processing the case early there is a strong 
likelihood that this will reduce. 

 
However in his appeal letter Mr Marshall highlights matters that would fall 
into other areas. 
 
Regarding Criteria 1) Mr Marshall contends that members of the pubic are 
consistently removing barriers erected by the golf course and that this is 
causing frustration at the need to detour onto the less convenient beach 
walk which is difficult to use for the elderly.  
 
Mr Marshall believes that the volunteer community group "Coastal Access 
For All", of which he is the lead member, would commit to ensuring that the 
pathway remains clear of sand. The group currently clears sand from the 
available walkways leading from the northern and southern ends of the golf 
course route. 
 
The final relevant point Mr. Marshall makes is that the route will form a 
continuous walkway between Skegness and Ingoldmells and will provide 
benefits for tourism as well as the local community and as such itwould 
possibly add value to the claim as a Rights of Way Improvement Plan 
objective. 
 
  

Page 8



Appendix A - Case Synopsis for: Skegness – Claimed Public Footpath between 
Footpath No. 969 and Footpath No. 301 along Sea Defences. 

 
Location Plan 
 
 

 

Page 9



Appendix A - Case Synopsis for: Skegness – Claimed Public Footpath between 
Footpath No. 969 and Footpath No. 301 along Sea Defences. 

Ordnance Survey 2nd Edition c.1906 
 
 

 
 

Page 10



Appendix B – Skegness DMMO 364 - Mr P Marshall – Appeal against case Priority 

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting held on 8 April 2013
	4 Appeal against the prioritisation of DMMO 364 - Skegness- Claimed Public Footpath from Footpath No.969 to Footpath No. 301 along the Sea Defences

